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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

United States of Americax rel. No. CV-15-00872-PHX-JJT
Aaron Fisheret al,
ORDER

Plaintiffs,
V.
IASIS Healthcare LLCet al.,

Defendants.

At issue is Certain Defendants¥otion to Dismiss (Doc78, Mot.), to which
Plaintiff Relator§ have filed a Response (Do85, Resp.), and Moving Defendant
Replied (Doc. 105, Reply). Multiple partfeined in both theViotion to Dismiss and
Reply. (Docs. 83, 88, 89, 90, 106, 10D8) Both sides alssubmitted supplementa
authority in support of theirespective filings. (Docs. 84, 102.) The Court finds tf

matter appropriate for decision without oral argum8eeLRCiv 7.2(f).

' Defendants IASIS Healthcare LLC (“B4S”), Health Choice of Arizona, Inc.
“Health Choice”), Health Choice ManagemeCo. (“HCMC”), Physician Group of
rizona ("PGA”), St. Luke’s Behavioral Hogpl, L.P. ("*SLBH"), St. Luke’s Medical

Center L.P. (“SLMC”), Mountain Vista Mical Center, L.P. (“Mountain Vista”), ano
Heritage Technologies, LLC (cotigvely, the “Moving Defendants”).

2 Aaron Fisher, Risa Cohedphn Gutzwiller, DeboraRlartman, Cynthia Limon,
and Catherine Nowak (cotigvely, “Relators”).

* Northern Arizona Dermatology Cent&.C., North CountQ{_HeaIthcare Inc
MOMDOC LLC, and Genesis OB/GYN, P.Qwhich filed an additional Motion to
Dismiss (Doc. 90) which also joins in tidoving Defendants’ Motion) (collectively,
“Joining Defendants”).
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I BACKGROUND

Pursuant to the False Claims Act (“/KQ, private persons known as “relators
may file qui tamactions and recover damages on Hebfathe UnitedStates. 31 U.S.C.
8 3730(b). Relators here are healthcare gabmals currently or fanerly employed by
one of the Health Choice entsgieRelators originally filé this FCA action on May 14,
2015 on behalf of the United States. (Dog.Relators filed a FitsAmended Complaint,
as of right, on July 22, 2015 (Doc. fHdaa Second Amended Colamt on January 28,
2016 (Doc. 14). In acedance with the FCA'squi tam provisions, the Complaint
remained under seal until the United Statdertd@ned whether thewyould intervene and
proceed with the case as claiRtiff—which they declinedo do. Moving Defendants
met and conferred with Relators, who thiged the Third Amended Complaint, the
operative pleading, on May 23, B&® (Doc. 67, TAC.) The Rdlars assert four claims
under three subsections of th€A—31 U.S.C. 88 3729 (a)(1)(A)-(C).

The Court accepts as trtige following allegations for the purpose of resolvir
this Rule 12(b)(6) MotionCahill v. Liberty Mutualins. Co, 80 F.3d 336338 (9th Cir.
1996). The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) oversee Medicali
which provides healthcare serggfor low-income and disabled individuals and is joint
funded by the federgjovernment and the states, and is administered on a state-by
basis. 42 U.S.C. § 1396t seq.lASIS Healthcare LLC (“IASIS”) is a hospital

management company that owns or leasésaagt 17 healthcare facilities. Health Choig¢

Arizona (“Health Choice”), a wholly owned suthgry of 1ASIS, is a prepaid Medicaid-
managed health plan that contracts witlzéina Health Care Cost Containment Syste
(“AHCCCS"), the state agency that administé&rizona’s Medicaid program pursuant t

a Section 1115 waiver that patsnstates to enact certain pilarojects in their Medicaid

programs. 42 U.S.C. § 1315. Health Choprevides healthcare services to Medicajd

enrollees through subcontractpdoviders. Unlikea traditional fee-for-service model

under a managed care program, the managee organizations (“MCOs”) enter int(

comprehensive risk camicts with the stat&see42 U.S.C. § 1396b(m) (defining MCOs);;
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42 C.F.R. 8§ 438.1(a) (rulesgarding MCOs and state comttg). Under a risk contract
the MCO is paid a “capitation payment,” andreturn assumes ridr the costs of the
services covered under thentract. 42 C.F.R. 8§ 438.2 (awhg risk contract). Here,

Health Choice provides insurance to Medichaheficiaries on a capitated per-memb:g

per-month payment from AHCCCS. Health Chosgeriences a loss when it pays mofre

for medical care than it receives in capitatgayments, and earns a profit when it pa
out less. Health Choice’s contract with B8CS requires all funds to be medical
necessary and cost effe@jvand incorporates various regulations and policies
reference. 42 C.F.R. § 438.210(a)(1).

As an MCO, Health Choice mandatpmprovides AHCCCS with ongoing reports
known as Encounter Data Reports, that ré@l Medicaid-covered services reported ¢
an inpatient or outpatient claim subted to an MCO, including those paid
administratively denied, or for which no Klieaid payment was due. Health Choice
Chief Financial Officer or Qbf Executive Officer, or anber individual designated tg
sign on their behalf, is also required to negmntractor encountetata under 42 C.F.R
88 438.604 and 438.6087. This report mustlude an attestation that the data
documents recorded and submitted are basdaest knowledge, infmation, and belief,
are in compliance with Subpart H of tHgalanced Budget Act requirements, a
complete, accurate, and truthful, and are in accordance withdallaleand state laws
regulations, policies, and contracts. In orde receive federal funds, each state mu
submit a quarterly estimate to the Unitect8&¢ for estimated costs, including MC{
services (Form CMS-37), and a quartergpenditure report (Form CMS-64). Both th
CMS-37 and CMS-64 include a certification attesting that the reported data includg
allowable expenditures “in accamce with applicable federadtate, and local statutes
regulations, policies, and the state plan aped by the Secretary . . .” Relators alleg
that Health Choice’s encounter reports areatliyancorporated intdhe State’s CMS-37
and CMS-64 reports.

2T,

ys
Yy
by

N

S

DI

[€

ISt
D

D

onl

je




To deliver services, eadiCO is required to developraetwork of sub-contracted
providers consisting of physieia, hospitals, clinics, medical equipment suppliers, and
other entities necessary to deliver care. Esubcontractor agredas deliver services
based on the negotiated payment ratesplde these subcontracts, the MCO remailns

fully responsible for the aspes of contract performance, agreeing to assure thaf all
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activities carried out by its subcontractors conform to its duties.

From 2011 on, Health Choice operatggragram in which certain providers werg
granted “Gold Card” status as an appap@ovider retention measure and to entice other
providers to join thdHealth Choice networkGold Card status was granted, apparently,
without regard to the performnce of the provider or deonstrated ability to provide
medically necessary and cost effective c@rce recorded in thprovider's computer
profile, Gold Card status granted automafpproval for any service payments requested
by that provider without prior authorizati review. When they became aware of the

program, Relators Nowak arfsutzwiller each raised coneex regarding the Gold Carc

system’s compliance with appéible statutes and regulations. Relators provide at lgast

one example of a provider’'s request being eérue to lack of documentation of x-ray
reports, activity modification, or physicalefapy that was immedglyy approved once it
was determined that the proeidwas a Gold Card membdRelators allege that each
physician, physician groupy clinic named in the TAC was a Gold Card provider.

Health Choice also created a similprovider retention measure known as
“Platinum status,” under which a provideckims bypassed the review process and wgre
automatically paid withirten days—without documentation and regardless of whether
the provider had obtained any prior authation or had passed a medical necessity
review. Relators allege that such claimgeveanually approved and manipulated withjn
the system so as to circumvent thedical review and audit departments.

Relators also allege that Health Chowas improperly staffed, which led to it

v/

inability to timely process requests for priauthorization in wlation of AHCCCS'’s

performance standards. To alleviate thekhzy caused by such staffing issues apd
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comply with its contractuahnd regulatory requirements (or create the appearanc
compliance), Health Choice would “admiapprove” the delingent requests without
evaluating the claims for necessity, dstency, or other prior authorizatior
requirements. Such approval also ignoreg arevious denial due to preauthorizatic
review.

Health Choice similarly created a lgge-holder” code—99950—to approv
blocks of claims. Like the Btinum status claims anda$e marked admin. approve
99950 claims were automatitaldropped out of the inteah audit queue for possiblg
review by Health Choice and approved masseresulting in the creation of incorrec
accuracy statistics and encounter repanat contained non-compliant, non-coverg

services for transiesion to AHCCCS.

During the relevant time period, Heal@hoice also applied a different appeals

and utilization review pross for IASIS-owned facilitiesThrough these programs
administrators would override kih Choice’s medical personnel’'s denial of claims
submitted by IASIS-affiliated providers.

Beginning in 2013, Health Choice alsmeated a program entitl€partnership for

guality outcomes.” Through throgram, providersere given funds pportedly to shift

administrative burden, particularly with g&d to prior authorization. For example

Defendant North Country Heaftthre Inc. (“North Country)’ contracted with Health
Choice as part of the partnership program doing so, North Country agreed t
participate in non-specific cost control meiEs. In return, HealtiChoice provided a
$25,000 payment to hd a care coordinator to féitate implementation of those
measures. Health Choice failéal ensure that a care coardior was hired or that any
other measurable was tracked with relg@ the grant or use of funds.

Relators also allege that Moving Defentiafailed to properlgredential providers
In its network, paid claimsubmitted by uncredéaled providers, antbutinely operated
a system of intentional backdating ofpapval dates for providers and approvin

providers who did not meet minimum qualgiandards for network participation.
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. LEGAL STANDARD

A. Pleading Requirements

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(8)designed to “testfhe legal sufficiency
of a claim.” Navarro v. Block 250 F.3d 729, 732 (9t@ir. 2001). When analyzing g
complaint for failure to state a claim for relief under RL®b)(6), the well-pled factual
allegations are taken as trard construed in the light madstvorable to the nonmoving
party. Cousins v. Lockyer568 F.3d 1063, 1067 (9t@ir. 2009). Legal conclusions
couched as factual allegations are eatitled to the assoption of truth, Ashcroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 680 (2009), and theref@re insufficient to defeat a motion t
dismiss for failure to state a claitm.re Cutera Sed.itig., 610 F.3d 11031108 (9th Cir.
2010). Generally, on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
governs and requires that a plaintiff mudegé “enough facts to state a claim to reli
that is plausible on its faceBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y650 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).

Here, however, the Ninth Circuit has hébdt “[tlhe heightead pleading standard

[Federal Rule of Civil Procede} 9(b) governs FCA claimsCafasso v. Gen. Dynamic$

C4 Sys., In¢.637 F.3d 1047, 1054 (9th Cir. 2011).UlR 9(b) provides that in alleging

fraud or mistake, a party must state withtigalarity the circumstances constituting fraud

or mistake.” Id. (internal quotation omitted). Where a plaintiff alleges fraud

misrepresentation, Rule 9(lWnposes heightened pleading requirements. Specifica
“[a]Jverments of fraud must beccompanied by ¢hwho, what, whenyhere, and how of
the misconduct chargedYess v. Ciba-Geigy Corp. USA17 F.3d 1097, 1106 (9th Cir
2003) (internal quotation omittedhee also Swartz v. KPMG LLB76 F.3d 756, 765 (9th
Cir. 2007) (allegations must contain “an asebof time, place, and specific content
the false representations as well as the idestitiehe parties to €hmisrepresentations”),
The heightened pleading requirements of Ra(le) apply even wére “fraud is not a
necessary element of a claiml/éss 317 F.3d at 1106. So long as a plaintiff alleges

claim that “sounds in fraud” or is fgunded in fraud,” Rule 9(b) applidsl. Rule 9(b)’'s

particularity requirement serves many purposesgive[s] notice to defendants of the
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specific fraudulent conduct against which thewyst defend,” “deter[s] the filing of
complaints as a pretext forsdovery of unknown vangs,” and “prohibits plaintiffs from
unilaterally imposing upon the court, the parties and society enormous socia
economic costs absent some factual baf$y/“Magee v. California236 F.3d 1014,
1018 (9th Cir. 2001).

B. False Claims Act

The FCA, 31 U.S.C. 88 3729 seq,. provides for “the recovery of civil penalties
from those who knowingly presea false or fraudulent claim to the federal governmg
for payment, or knowingly use a false recor@woid or decrease aibligation to pay the
federal government.Hagood v. Sonom&nty. Water Agen¢y81 F.3d 1465, 1467 n.]
(9th Cir. 1996). Originally emcted to punish and prevemiassive frauds perpetrated b
large contractors during thev@liWar, the FCA's chief goal wato provide for restitution
to the government of money taken from it by fraBde United States v. Bornste#23
U.S. 303, 309 (1976). The Supreme Court hassesl to adopt a restrictive reading of th
statute, however, holding that the FCAas“remedial statute [that] reaches beyol
‘claims’ which might be legally enforcedp all fraudulent #iempts to cause thg
Government to pay out sums of moneyhited States v. Neifert—White C890 U.S.
228, 233 (1968)Jnited States v. McLepd?21 F.2d 282, 284-85 (9th Cir. 1983).

The FCA authorizes individuals, known aslators,” to file civil suits, referred to

as ‘qui tam actions,” against persons who prdaségise claims to the government.

31 U.S.C. 8§ 3730. It makes liable any persdm has (1) knowingly presented or caus
to be presented a false or fraudulent clai#); knowingly made, used, or caused to
made or used a false record or statememgjetoa false or fraudulent claim paid; or (3
conspired to defraud the government bytigg a false or fraudulent claim paid. 3
U.S.C. 8§ 3729(a)(1)-(3). The FCA defineknbwing” as having actual knowledge o
information, or acting in either delibeeatignorance or reckless disregard of tl
information’s truth or falsity. 31 U.S.C.329(b). Congress amendie FCA to include

this definition to make “firm . . . its interdn that the act not punish honest mistakes
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incorrect claims submitted through mere negligenddriited States ex rel. Hochman y.

Nackman 145 F.3d 1069, 1073 (9thir. 1998) (quoting S. RefNo. 99-345 at 7 (1986),
1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5266, 5272%ce also Hagoqd929 F.2d at 1421 (“the statuton
definition of ‘knowingly’ requires at least ‘deliberate igaace’ or ‘reckless disregard™).
Thus, “[tlhe phrase ‘known to be fals. . . means [known to be] ‘a lie.Wang v. FMC

Corp, 975 F.2d 1412, 1421 (9th Cir. 1992) (quotidds. ex rel. Dick v. Long Island
Lighting Co, 912 F.2d 13, 18 (2d Cir. 1990)verruled on other grounds by U.S. ex re

T~

Hartpence v. Kinetic Concepts, In92 F.3d 1121 (9th Cir. 2015)). “The FCA does rEt

define false. Rather, courts decide whethetaim is false or fraudulent by determinin
whether a defendant’'s representations areurate in light of applicable lawUnited
States v. Bourseab31 F.3d 189, 1170-71 (% Cir. 2008).

Accordingly, “[a] civil action for Fals€laims Act liability requires four essentia|

elements: ‘(1) a false statement or fraudulsmirse of conduct, (2) made with scientsg
(3) that was material, causirfg) the government to pay out money or forfeit mong
due.” United States ex rel. Ruhe v. Masimo Co#7.7 F. Supp. 2d 98 991 (C.D. Cal.
2013) (quotingUnited States ex rel. Hendow v. Univ. of PhoeAtl F.3d 1166, 1174
(9th Cir. 2006))see also Ebeid ex rel. United States v. Lungwits F.3d 993, 997 (9th
Cir. 2010). A plaintiff “must show an actutdise claim for payment being made to th
Government”; “[e]vidence of aactual false claim is th&ine qua norof a False Claims
Act violation.” United States ex rel. Aflatoomi Kitsap Physicians Sen314 F.3d 995,
1002 (9th Cir. 2002)see also Cafass637 F.3d at 1055 (“It seems to be a fairly obvio

notion that a False Claims Act suit oughtramguire a false claim. . . . [T]he [FCA]

attaches liability, not to the underlying @idulent activity or to the government's

wrongful payment, but tdhe ‘claim for payment
Anton 91 F.3d 12611266—-67 (9th Cir. 1996) (“Violationsf laws, rules, or regulations
alone do not create a cause of action underRGA. It is the false certification of

compliance which creates liaityl when certification is gprerequisite to obtaining 3

);United States ex rel. Hopper .
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government benefit . . . . [Thus therenis FCA liability] whereregulatory compliance
was not asine qua norof receipt of state funding”).

There are several theories of FCA liabilitfrhe prototypical false claims action
alleges a factually false claime., an explicit lie in a clainfor payment, such as ar
overstatement of the amount du®.’S. ex rel. Modglin v. DJO Global Inet8 F. Supp.
3d 1362, 1387 (C.D. Cak014). Relators relying on a falsertification theory allege that
the defendant’s claim is fal§ecause the defendant certified to a government agency

it had complied with laws, rules, or regulatiag®verning the reimbursement of claims ¢

that

DI

other provision of benefits vem it had not. There are two types of false certificatipon

claims—expressly false certificati@md impliedly fése certification.

“Express certification simip means that the entitgeeking payment certifies
compliance with a law, rule or regulation as part of the process through which the
for payment is submitted. Imptigfalse certification occurs when an entity has previou
undertaken to expressly comply with a lawle, or regulation, and that obligation i
implicated by submitting a clai for payment even thoughceartification of compliance
is not required in the process of submitting the clai&héid 616 F.3d at 998.

To show that claims were false underfalse certification theory, a complain

“must plead with particularity allegations thaovide a reasonable basis to infer that

the defendant explicitly undertook to comphith a law, rule or regulations that i$

implicated in submitting a claim for paymentdatiat (2) claims were submitted (3) eve
though the defendant was notcompliance withthat law, rule or regulationld.

In addition to the falseertification theory of liallity, the Ninth Circuit has
recognized FCA liability based on promissdrgud or “fraud-in-theanducement.” Under
this theory, no false statement regardocwmpliance with govement regulations is
needed, but rather, “liability M attach to each claim submitted to the government un
a contract, when the contract or extensioig@fernment benefit was originally obtaine
through false statements or fraudulent condudehdow 461 F.3d at 1173. The Ninth
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Circuit has noted that this theory is “rex different from the fae certification theory,
and even requires the same elememts.at 1174.

A relator relying on thestheories in an FCA actiodoes not have to identify
representative examples of false claims to support every allegédiohe use of
representative examples is “simply oneame of meeting the pleading obligationd:

Under Rule 9(b), “it is sufficient to allegedpicular details of a scheme to submit false

claims paired with reliable indicia that lead to a strong inference that claims were actuall

submitted.” Ebeid 616 F.3d at 998-99 (quotingnited States ex rel. Grubbs \.
Ravikumar Kannegantb65 F.3d 180, 190 (5th Cir. 2009)).

“Because a dismissal of a complaint aaim grounded in frnad for failure to
comply with Rule 9(b) has the same ocemsence as a dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6),
dismissals under the two rulegareated in the same mannaréss 317 F.3d at 1107.
[11.  ANALYSIS

A. Claims Based on Anti-Kickback Statute Violations

Count | of the TAC asserts FCA claimsvimlation of 31 U.SC. § 3729(a)(1)(A)
through the submission of aims rendered false due tontrue certifications of
compliance with the Medicarand Medicaid Patient Proteati Act, also known as theg
Anti-Kickback Statute (“AKS”). 42 U.S.C88 1320(a)-7b(b). The AKS prohibits any
person or entity from “kowingly and willfully offering to pay remumation to another to
induce them to purchase, lease, orderamange for or recommending purchasing,
leasing, or ordering any good, facility, see; or item for whictpayment may be made
in whole or in part under a Federalaltt care program.” 42 U.S.C. 88 1320a-
7b(b)(2)(B). The Patient Protection and Aflable Care Act made any “claim that
includes items or services resulting from a wiola of [the AKS] . .. a false or fraudulent
claim for the purposes of [the AC” 42 U.S.C. 88 1320a-7b(Q).

1. Gold Card, Platinum Status, and Preferential Programs
Moving Defendants move to dismiss Couron the grounds that Relators have

failed to allege that remuneration to pmetis was for referrals or resulted in any

-10 -
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purchases or referrals. (Mot.&11.) Moving Defendants alsmntend that the TAC fails
to allege what Platinum stet benefits were induced, whatirchases resulted, or th
intent to induce either. (Mot. at 12Blowever, Moving Defendants’ overarchin
contention is that Health Choice, as MCO, receives capitation payments frof
AHCCCS based on the headcount of plan ke®s, not on particulaservices provided,
and is not, by its very nature, susceptitdekickback programs that function as th
preferential systems alleged here. (Mot. at 9-14.)

In the TAC, Relators allege that Heaffinoice’s Gold Card, Platinum status, ar
other preferential programs created kickbabksallowing provides’ claims to avoid
prior authorization review, regardless of whether they were documented as mec
necessary or complied with Health Choicpigblished prior authorization requirement
or utilization management plamth AHCCCS. (TAC Y 78.)According to Relators, Gold
Card status was granted to providers withoonsideration of past performance or
record of adherence to medical necessityddeds. (TAC Y 79.) Instead, Relators alleg
the sole reason to grant Golhrd status was to entice prders to joinor remain in
Health Choice’s network, rendering such alleged remuneration a kickback unde
AKS. (TAC 1 92.) Relators allege that thggegrams were understood by IASIS, Heal
Choice, and Provider Defendants to be waaration for participation in the Healt}
Choice network. (TAC { 100.)

The TAC, thus, alleges that particijpam in these programs functioned as
kickback to entice providers to join and/@main in the Health Choice network an
receive network referrals and patients. (TAC79.) In doing so, Relators allege, th
program allowed funds to flow from Healtbhoice to its own hospitals and favore
providers without utilization reew and/or cost control maa®gs as required by Arizona
law and its contract with AHCCCS. Relators also allege that the program allowed H
Choice to refer patients for other services,udahg diagnostic imagm to its affiliates
without scrutiny. (TAC 11 8192.) These Gold Carproviders experienced considerab
lower denial rates for servicesquested. (TAC 1 84-85.)

-11 -
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The Court agrees with Moving Defendsintontentions here. Doctors do not refg
patients to Health Choice f@are or purchase healthcare services from Health Chc
See United States v. Group Health Co-®pn. C09-603 RSM, 2011 WL 814261, at *
(W.D. Wash. Mar. 3, 2011) (granting dismiss& FCA claims where relators failed tq
adequately plead that conduct altereapitation payments). While the Cou
acknowledges the preferentiakétment granted to providers under these programs
well as its apparently drasteffect on approval rates fohdse providers, it declines tc
determine whether or not such treatmenteisiuneration under th&tatute as it is not
necessary for the resolutiosf Moving Defendants’ Motin. Nor does the Motion’s
resolution require a determination of whetbenot the program resulted in any referra
or purchases under the terms of the statlusead, Relators havailed to adequately
educe what financial benefit Health Choiweuld gain from its alleged kickbacks, of
more importantly, how Federal healthcare paomgs would face a loss under the san
Nor have Relators provided any precedeatsoever holding that similar program
violate the AKS.

Given that Health Choice operates a capitated payment system, it is tq

speculative to find that whatever benefitnferred to providersinder these programs

resulted in increased payments to Moving Defendants. In their Response, Relators
to allege that by allowing more treatment amcbrporating that intdhe encounter data
by which future capitation payments will bealculated, Health Choice sought t
artificially increase future revenue, therebgnefiting from more patient treatments ar
increasing governmental costs. (Resp. at 12-THis, too, is speculative, and Relato
fail to allege any actual increase in rategilter, if Health Choice’s end goal was simp
to approve as mucheatment as possible—which is inhatg in conflict with much of
its business model and profit structure—R@&ia do not explain why Health Choic
would only allow certain providers to joithe uninhibited programs and not other

resulting in the approval of less overall cakgain, the Court can only speculate as
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whether Health Choice desired to funnel payis to only certain partners or affiliates-
a theory not alleged or ppied by Relators here.

In their Response, Relators also appear to allege an addihenay which hinges
on the applicable MCO risk corridors. €8p. at 12-14.) Under this theory, th
government suffers financiallwhen Health Choice’s lossaunder the program excee

six percent, at which point any furthdosses are covered by the governme

Accordingly, Relators allegeghe open spigot to somegwiders under the preferential

programs would eventually eged the risk corridor anthus negatively affect the
government without HealtifChoice incurring further ks and providing a potentia
windfall to IASIS-affiliated entities. (Respat 12-13.) Not only isthis theory also
speculative, because Relatorsro allege that the risk cadors were exceeded, but th
Court is limited to the allegations in the TAand the sufficiency of those allegations. N
claim regarding a desire toide up capitation rates is found the TAC; nor is there
alleged a desire or plan [any Defendant to benefit fromidgering risk corridors. The

Court cannot consider novel theoritast stated in Riators’ ResponseSee Acker v.

McCormick 110 F.3d 67 (9th Cir. 1997) (decliningdonsider claims raised for the firsit

time in responsive paperschneider v. California Dep’t of Corrl51 F.3d 1194, 1197
(9th Cir. 1998) (“[ijn determining the propnedf a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, a court mg
not look beyond ta complaint to a plaintiffs moving papers, such as a memorandurt
opposition to a defendant’s motion to dism)s® Moore’s Federal Practice, § 12.34[2
(Matthew Bender 3d ed (“The court may not . . . takemto account additional factg
asserted in a memorandum opposing the matiatismiss, because such memoranda
not constitute pleadings underIB(a).”). Not only is th& AC devoid of such theories
but again Relators fail to allege any nba in payment to Health Choice or fror
AHCCCS that would substantiate the purpo$®r damage caused by such a scher

Count | of the TAC based on thesegrams is therefore dismissed.
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2. Payment Under Partnership for Quality Outcomes Program

Moving Defendants also move to diss) Relator's AKS claims based on the

partnership for quality outcomes program parg to the safe harbor exception fq
Federally Qualified HealthCenters (“FQHCs”). (Mot. atl3-14 (citing 42 U.S.C.
88 1320a-7b(b)(3)(H) and 42.F.R. § 1001.952(w)). Unddhnat exceptionFQHCs may
receive payments pursuant to written caots designated for administrative and cg
management servicdsl.

Relators again allege that, like theef@rential programs already discussed, t
grants made under the program were sofely the purpose ofetaining providers’
membership in the network, because IHeaChoice failed to track or cover any
deliverables associated with the contract®aAGTY{ 109-10.) Relators allege that due
these grants, all claims submitted to HealtloiCé post-grant are considered false clair
under the statute. (TAC  112.) However, theCTfails to allege that the safe harbg
provisions do not apply to the only sgacgrant Relators have identifietllinited States
ex rel. Lee v. Corinthian Colls.655 F.3d 984, 993-97 t{® Cir. 2011) (affirming
dismissal due to lack of allegations thainduct was not pretted by safe harbof
provisions). Relators have failed to ev&spond to Moving Defendants’ argument ar
therefore waived any such argume®eeLRCiv 7.2(i); Currie v. Maricopa Cty. Cmty.
Coll. Dist, No. CV-07-2093-PHX-FIM2008 WL 2512841, at2 (D. Ariz. June 20,
2008). While Relators do atteto clarify these allegatiorsthough not the safe harbo
provisions (Resp. at 27-28)—these assertiaires not tethered to the allegations in tl

TAC and cannot be properly considered by the Cdraffile v. Exec. Aircraft Maint.

No. 12-cv-0365-PHX-DGC, @2 WL 4361409, at *3 (D. Ariz. Sept. 25, 2012).

Accordingly, the Count | clais based on the partnersiign quality outcomes program
are also dismissed.
3. Rule 9(b) Particularity
Because of the inherent flaws in Relators’ AKS-based claims, the Court dec

to unnecessarily examine those altegss’ adequacy under Rule 9(b).
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B. Claims Based on False Certification

Count Il of the TAC asserts violations thife FCA based on claims submitted fq
payment that certify compliance—expresslyimpliedly—with various contractual anc
regulatory requirements material to gawaent funds in violation of 31 U.S.C
88 3729(a)(1)(B).

Moving Defendants argue that Count Il mbstdismissed as its allegations: (1) ¢
not identify any false statements in theawls described, which Moving Defendan
contend are not “claims” for payment (Matt 18); (2) fail to identify contractual of
regulatory violations (Mot. a23-33); and (3) fail to allegany such violations were
material to payment (Mot. at 19-23).

The TAC alleges that autmtic approval associateslith Gold Card, Platinum
status, code 99950, admin. approval, and appg#akesses, as well as staffing errors g
credentialing misconduct, circumvented theed for providers to demonstrate medic
necessity, and providers were able to gaipreyal of services without preauthorizatio
or substantive medical information in violation of the AHCCCS requirements, AriZ
law and regulations, andwgtractual obligations.H.g, TAC 1 90.) Because Gold Carc
providers could order medical service witih documentation, or review of cOS

effectiveness or medical necessity, the statlmved for the payment of services nq

Medicaid-covered under AHCCCS. (TAC { 62.)&ers allege this practice resulted in

the creation of false certifitions and payment accurastatistics for review by
AHCCCS. (TAC 1 124.) The Court analyzég parties’ arguments in turn.
1. Submission of False Certification

At the outset, Moving Defendants assedtthone of Relatorsllegations concern
actual claims for payment as those termssgautorily defined. (Mot. at 10-11.) Moving
Defendants contend that, for Relators’ theory to be actionable, the Court must e
encounter data with a provider’s request payment for individuakervices. (Reply at
10.) While Moving Defendants adt that Relators assert Health Choice’s bills
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AHCCCS, CMS, and other Fedéteealth care program administrators constituted false
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records, they contend that Relators failebgplain what those bills are or what falge
statements they contained. (Mot. at 18-However, this argument, and those based|on
semantics regarding the difference bemveexpenditures and claims that include
certifications, are largely questions of fétat cannot be resolved on the pleadir@ge,

e.g., U.S. ex rel. Satalich v. City of Los Angelé® F. Supp. 2d0B2, 1111 (C.D. Cal.
2001) (denying FCA Motion tdismiss when claims tued on unresolved factua
inquiries). The TAC alleges that Healt@Ghoice made false express and implied
certifications in enrollment applicationseports, and other quarly and financial
performance reports that caused Arizonantake express false certifications to the
federal government on CMS-37 and CMS{6dms certifying that Defendants were in
compliance with their obligations describéherein. (TAC 11 43-45, 62, 179.) Moving
Defendants respond that therfes submitted to CMS only certify that expenditures are
“allowable” in accordance witlapplicable statutes andgrdations, and that the only
expenditures on those forms were AHCCC®itadion payments. (Mot. at 19.) Thus,
Moving Defendants argue, the capitation payrmdéno Health Choice would need to be
not “allowed” for the certificatios to be false. (Mot. at 1Relators have at least alleged
that those capitation paymemtsuld not be allowable in thesircumstances. While true
that encounter data is not explicitly absnission of claim for payment, the data
nonetheless are used to aggregate recofdservices rendered to Medicaid plal]n
participants and determine future capitatgayments based on these services, and they
are encapsulated in CMS-37 and CMS-6gores—all of which inaide an attestation
regarding compliance with vaiis laws and regulations, d@elators have alleged
Neither party has provided duatrity that definitively include or excludes the types of
documents Relators rely on as claims. Retatdaim that such dagnents included false

certifications meet the pleading requirements at this stage.
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a. Express Certification
Moving Defendants argue that Relatdnave not alleged that any expres
certification by Health Choiceras false. (Mot. at 20.) However, the TAC alleges that
standards governing the operations and requents delineated in A.R.S. 8§ 36-2911
seq. and Arizona Administrative Code A'A.C.”) Articles 5 and 9-22-501 are
incorporated by referencetmmevery AHCCCS managed carentract, including Health
Choice’s. E.g, TAC 11 49-50.) The TAC also quotkmguage in both CMS-37 ang
CMS-64 requiring states to certify th#éte report includes expenditures under t
Medicaid program “that are allowable incacdance with applicable implementin
federal, state, and local statutes, regulatipo$icies, and the state plan approved by t
Secretary . . ..” (TAC 11 485.) The TAC further allegesdahHealth Choice is required
to submit encounter data as a conditainthe CMS grant aard (TAC § 56 (citing
42 C.F.R. 8§ 438.242(b)(1); 42 C.F.R. 8%1(a)(2)), and that ¢éhreported services
encapsulated in the eounter data “must be medically necessary and provided k
primary care provider, or other qualifiedoprders as defined [herein].” (TAC { 5¢
(quoting AHCCCS Medical Policy Manual, CB00).) Relators also point to Healt
Choice’'s submission in response #®WHCCCS’'s Request for Proposals, whig
emphasized that they onbffer Gold Card stas to physicians witla proven history of
following guidelines, as another false stag¢s because Relators contend no factg
were considered in granting @oCard status. (TAC § 79Relators allege that thesg
programs create the impossibility of complianwith those provisions. Relators als
allege that Health Choiceancelled or failed to updatessential clinical tools and
guidelines, reduced its prior torization staff, ad continued to useutdated criteria,
allowing for claims to be pd to IASIS facilities without justification, medical necessit
or other underlying prerequisites for paymdmtAC 1 125-28.) Relate allege that the
degradation of its tools and staff causedckless disregard as to medical necessity g
disallowed the ability to apply consistentiteria to prior authorization decisions &
required by the above prisions. (TAC 1 125-28.)
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Relators further contend that 42 (RF.88 438.604 and 8308 require that
information submitted as part dfe encounter data includespecific attestation that the
data is in compliance with Subpart H of the Balanced Budggtis complete, accurate
and truthful, and is in accordance with Bederal and State laws, regulations, a
policies. Relators allege that Health Choice, through its preferential programs
administrative transgressions shampletely ignored or elimated any attempt to ensur
medical necessity of claimsE.g, TAC Y 78-81, 90-90 [sicjl05, 117, 122, 125.) If
true, this abdication would meer Health Choice’s encotan data reports—upon which
AHCCCs relies in its CMS-37 and CMS-6#llings—false. Relators also poin
specifically to the attestation of accuracyHealth Choice’s encounter data submissiof
(TAC 11 60-62 (citing 42 C.F.R88 438.604 and38.608; Mot., Ex. B.) Relators allegg
that those encounter data submissions weggerted as properly paid to AHCCCS, whig
could only be done if Health Choice meein compliance with its regulatory ang

contractual requirements for payment. (TA®2.) Health Choice cannot escape liabili

simply by relying upon the preceding sta@rh in that certification, which ties the

accuracy only to the lawledge of the signatgr To do so would llow Health Choice to
simply assign a party to sign all certifimats who has no knowledgas to the truth,
falsity, or accuracy of the certification.

As relied on by Relators in their sulmsion of supplementaluthority (Doc. 102),
the court inUnited States ex rel. Swoben v. United Healthcare Ins. Xom. 13-56746,
2016 WL 4205941, at3 (9th Cir. Aug. 10, 2016), ready disagreed with a similar
argument that defendants’ certificationsreveualified and could not have been fals

because they did né&how of any specific instances wheigned. The Court notes tha

while the Medicare Advantage program ane tfegulations at issue—65 Fed. Rep.

40,268—in Swobenare distinct from those at issueere, particularly in their risk
adjustment parameters that gives plamsl providers additional funding for treatin
Medicare Advantage patients who are tiekly unhealthy, Mdicare Advantage

nonetheless operates on a monthly cagltéée arrangement. Further, the court fou
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that defendants’ review process wassigeed to deliberately “avoid identifying
erroneously submitted codes thmaight otherwise have beadentified with reasonable
diligence,” which nolonger allowed them to “certiffhased on information and belief
the accuracy, completeness, and trutidet of the dataubmitted to CMS."Swoben
2016 WL 4205941, at *&inally, the court found that ¢hallegations that the defendan
designed review procedures @aoid reporting information téhe government stated 3
cognizable legal they under the FCAId. As discussed, the Court is aware of tf
distinguishing factors in this case—bo#is pointed out by Mong Defendants and
otherwise—and nonetheless finds Relators sienilarly state a claim based on a simil
framework and allegations regarding tb@dtestations and certifications.

Moving Defendants also argue that therengsallegation thathey provided or
paid for medically unnecessary carg.g, Mot. at 6.) However, Relators’ allegations a
that Moving Defendants submitteclaims with reckless disregard or willful indiffereng
as to whether or not the care was mdticaecessary—a fundamental requirement

MCOs. Though possibly not tleto any direct or immedie loss by the government

MCOs are nonetheless entrusted to ensuteonky the expeditious, efficient, and cos

effective facilitation of cardyut not to provide medicallynnecessary aron-economical
care. As a risk-sharing partner, MCOs semeye or less, as a duit or surrogate for

Medicaid. They cannot, as Relators allegedieate their duties even if there is not

direct or immediate financial loss associateth those duties. Relators’ allegations

taken as true, show that Moving Defenddrad no information whatsoever regarding tf
medical necessity or costfectiveness of claims ubmitted through its various
preferential programs and nonettssleertified compliace with each.

b. Implied Certification

S

e

[€
e

of

a

Moving Defendants contenthat none of the alleged conduct violates any

obligation that is a conditio of payment by AIECCS. (Mot. at 20.) Instead, Moving

Defendants argue, Relators harmaployed conclusory language and failed to identify t
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contractual or regulatory prsions that support a contgyn that the payments were

conditioned upon the allegedly vatéd provisions. (Mot. at 22.)

However, the TAC alleges that Healtbhoice agreed taomply with the
contractual requirements—that it have in place and follow written policies
procedures for processing all requests foitial and continuing authorization for
services—and that HealthhGice made payments andbsnitted encounter reports t(
AHCCCS as properly paid abnt compliance with these obligations. (Resp. at 11-]
These include Arizona stataw obligations, encounter ta obligations, and other
obligations under the AHCCCS Medicallieg Manual. (TAC Y 49-50, 53, 55-63, 67

and

A4

12)

98.) Again, by alleging that Moving Defendants’ actions in submitting claims as paid—

inherently certifying compliance with the gmeding obligations—and attesting to th
accuracy in their encounter data submissions, Relators allege several implied certif
claims. (TAC 1 179; Resp. dt1-12.) Relators’ claims are not conclusory and iden
specific breaches of Movingefendants’ oljations.

This is not to say Moving Defendah arguments are without merit—many af
well taken. Indeed, Relators’ claims often appear to be allegingtiains of conditions
of participation, rather than payment. Thedsams are only sufficient if the plaintiff
asserts liability on a fraudulent inducement theory—whiclat@es apparently dropped
in this iteration of the pleading (Dod4, 1 171-74.) The Court will not addres
arguments not raised by Relatorsbriefed by the partieSee Greenlaw v. United States

e

cati

ify

e

bS

J7

554 U.S. 237 (2008) (“as a general ruler adversary system is designed around the

premise that the parties know what is besthem, and are responsible for advancing t
facts and arguments entitling them to relieE)sewhere, Relators come perilously clos
to pleading an after-the-fact breach of contract, which is not actionable under the
United States ex rel. Maim. Oakland City Uniy.426 F.3d 914 (7ti€Cir. 2005) (“fraud

requires more than a breachprbmise: fraud entails making a false representation, s

as a statement that the skeawill do something it plans ndab do”). However, in its
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totality, and in light ofSwoberand other relevant precedetite TAC adequately alleges

claims based on implied certification.
2. Regulatory and Contractual Violations
Moving Defendants next contend thabne of the regulatory or contractua
violations alleged are propgrtescribed or constitute FC#olations. (Mot. at 16-33.)
The Court analyzes eacheged violation in turn.
a. Prior Authorization

Moving Defendants claim that the waivef prior authorization associated witl

the Gold Card, Platinum status, code 9995@, aamin. approval programs fails to create
FCA liability because neither their contract with AHCCCS ayoplicable statutes require

Health Choice to impose priauthorization universally, and ev when requed, it is not

a condition of payment. (Mot. at 23.) laatd, Moving Defendants state that pri

authorization is purely a cost-control meastva an MCO is authorized to employ, tZLe

use of which is only regulated to ensure thdien applied, it is done consistently. (M

at 24.) Similarly, Health Choice notes thiéé contract provides “wide latitude” in
implementing prior authorization systemand that the TAC fails to allege an
inconsistent application. (Mot. at 25-26.)

However, the law does require that wnttpolicies be in place and that thog

policies be applied consistin 42 C.F.R. § 438.210(blurther, Arizona law mandate$

policy application in some circumstancesA.C. 8 R9-22-522 Moving Defendants’

argument here hinges on whether or not they required to applpolicies at all. The

=

L

D

DI

e

argument is not persuasive. It is illogical to suggest Congress would require writte

policies but not require their @sRelators have properljleged the obligations above, a
well as sufficient indicia of noncompliance with those obligations.
b. Utilization Review and Appeal Practices

Moving Defendants similarly contend theéte waiver of utilization review and

alteration of appellate procedsr do not violate statutoryegulatory, or contractual

provisions. (Mot. at 27.) They further state thgbayor is not statutorily or contractuall
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required to institute a policy for adjudicatioaims or to use a medical professional fo
approve a claim or overturn a denial, and thatTAC fails to identlf services that were
not in fact medically necessary aost effective. (Mot. at 27-28.)

The TAC does allege thatealth Choice waived utilizeon review and standard
appeals processes for cert@roviders—usually catrolled or affilided with IASIS—
causing payment of claims without justifican, medical necessityor other underlying
prerequisites. (TAC 11 129-39.) Becausetis resolution mechams must rely upon
consistent medical criteriand must be based on medicatessity with documentation
Relators argue these deficiencies illustnatekless disregard or kitgerate ignorance of
whether or not those claims met the stagytoegulatory, and contractual requirements
for covered services. (TAC fR9-39.) As with prior autharation, federal and statg
regulations require that an MCO have wnittpolicies and procedures in place apply
criteria consistently. 42 C.F.R. § 438.24) A.A.C. 88 R922-522(B)(1), (B)(5);
AMPM, Ch. 1000, 1010-1 to 1010-Eurther, the contract statdsat the services must bé

v

“medically necessary” and “cost effectiVveContract § D-10, 36. While it does no

prescribe particular methodsrfensuring eithersome method of determining both it
necessary. The waiver of priauthorization and appellateview alleged in the TAC
avers that, for large swaths of claims, thisreo method or attempt to determine either
medically necessity or cosffectiveness. The TAC's allegations regarding the reversalle of
claims denied due to medicala@ssity or other vital requirements, taken as true, strongly
implies abdication of the obligations as well.

C. Credentialing

N

Moving Defendants argue that the TA@entifies no statutory, regulatory, o
contractual provision that the alleged credaimtg conduct violates (Mot. at 30), and that
Health Choice was neither obligated to @mwiial all providers serving Medicaid patients
nor refuse to pay out-of-ngbrk providers (Mot. at 31-32). Moving Defendants al$o

argue that Relators have failed to idgnin uncredentialed doctor who provided any
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specific, unpayable claim, or what cert#ton was false in connection with such |a
payment. (Mot. at 32-33.)

Again, Health Choice is required to hawetten processes in place to credential
providers and must credential a provider ratav AMPM, Ch. 900, 950-1; A.A.C. 8 R9-
22-522(B)(5)(m). The TAC alsalleges that AHCCCS requires services to be rendered

174

by providers that are appropriately licensedcertified. (TAC § 68.) Relators allege
specific instances of executil@adership discussing the bdeking process and attempts
to circumvent discovery of its credenitngy processes. (TAC § 142.) To read the
requirements as necessitating proceduresrédential and credentialing itself, but not
require that such credentiagimactually occur or that Hdth Choice use credentialed
providers, is another insupportable comitam The allegations of the TAC regarding

backdating suggests that ceatialing was knowingly requideand that such processegs

were to take place before authorizing cave,at least on some schedule that Health

Choice failed tacomply with.

Because their contract with AHCCCSdaa.A.C. Title 9 Chapter 22 requirg

Moving Defendants to assure that services under their plans are delivered by prqgvide

who have been propgrtredentialed and meet quality rstiard providers, the backdatin

and credentialing alleged in the TAC constitusgdeast, a reckless disregard of medigal

gualification of providers and could serve gmvide false and misleading statistics on

timeliness for credentialing as requirbg their AHCCCS contract. Further, the TA(
provides a representative example of an ueméaled provider operating in the networ
(TAC { 141.) The TAC alsollages that all providers rendgieg services to Arizona
Medicaid recipients must have enroliment completed with AHCO®@E  70) and that

\J

the provider must comply with all federal, state, and local laws, rules, regulatjons

policies, standards, and executive ordet&GT] 71). Relators havsufficiently alleged

claims based on credentialing.
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d. Rule 9(b) Particularity

Moving Defendants argue that the allegmmhtractual and regulatory violation
regarding prior autharation, utilization rgiew, appellate process, and credentiaking
not pled with sufficient particularity undé&(b). Specifically, Moving Defendants argu
that Relators fail to allege how Health Choice’s prior conduct violated its legg
contractual obligations, whatrtdications were made, and support of which claims for
payment its conduct was associated, aglired by Rule 9(b). (Mot. at 26.) Moving
Defendants argue that the TAC fails toemtdfy who at Health Choice authorize
additional services or how the overrides altbgesre improper. (Mot. at 29.) As to eag
of these arguments, the Court disagrees.

First, while Relators, as insiders, are regdito have a certaidegree of factual
knowledge regarding the alleged wrongdoiktpited States ex rel. Lee v. SmithKlir
Beecham, In¢.245 F.3d 1048, 1051-52 (9th CRO001), they cannot reasonably b
expected to allege details about eachhef individual claims that were submittexke,
e.g., U.S. ex rel. Duxbury Wrtho Biotech Products, L.P579 F.3d 13, 29 (1st Cir.
2009). Instead, it is sufficient to allege “particular details of a scheme to submit
claims paired with reliable indicia that lead to a strong inference that claims were ag
submitted.”ld. In short, to comply witlRule 9(b), Relators’ allegations of fraud must |
“specific enough to give [theefendant] notice of the particular misconduct which
alleged to constitute the fraud charged so i@y can defend againhe charge and not

just deny that they have done anything wro®Jy—Magee 236 F.3d at 1019. Relators

TAC meets this standard. Angability to providefurther examples or specific names

providers, or costs does not preclude thieom adequately pleading a false claim.

relator is unlikely to have acse to the particular certificats or to underlying data, and
precluding a plaintiff from asserting a FCA caus action because of a lack of access
particular paperwork wdd excise much afui tamlitigation. See, e.g., U.S. ex rel. Lusb
V. Rolls-Royce Corp570 F.3d 849, 854 (7th Cir0@9). Under controlling authority,

Relators need not “identify representativeamples of false clais to support every
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allegation.”Ebeid 616 F.3d at 998. Relators, therefoneed not identify specific false¢
certifications.

Second, to the degree Mng Defendants argue thdte TAC does not set forth
the role of each Defendant ordividuals at each Defendar(Mot. at 32), a complaint
satisfies Rule 9(b) if it adequately allegeattthe employees of éhcompany “oversaw or
actively participated in the alleged fraudulent schen@atinthian Colls, 655 F.3d at
998. The TAC does so, at least witlgaed to Health Choice and IASIS.

Further, the TAC provideexamples of claims being approved despite previg

—d

denials for lack of documentation (TAC 1 99:%he operation of the appellate proce
(TAC 11 132-39), uncredentialed physiciapmoviding care (TAC § 141), and th¢
backdating of such credertrey (TAC 9§ 140-42). Relate also point to emails

[92)

S

U

regarding compliance concerns and enouwggttsfto demonstrate the legal and financjal
complications that may agdrom these programs.

Relators have pled indicia of impropauthorization of additional or medically
unnecessary services bgmeonat Health Choice. While Moving Defendants argue that
Relators rely on “blind conjégre” that unnecessary servioceght have been paid (Mot.
at 30), the Court disagrees. Although somgrele of speculation isecessary to give
Relators’ claim credence, itfar from blind. Relators’ statigs and allegations regarding
the processes provide far more than a suggesiiat some of the medical services were
unnecessary. It would be surprising werteleast some of the services provideaat

unnecessary, given the total lack of priorhawization, utilization, and appellate reviey

<

applied to an abundance of claims. IndeedA F@bility only attacles to the “natural,

ordinary and reasonablebrsequences of condudtllison Engine Co. v. United State

(72

ex rel. Sanders553 U.S. 662, 669 (2008). Hereethatural consequences of removing
d

naturally, ordinarily, and reasonably le&al the provision of medically unnecessaty

all semblance of any review for medica&lcessity and granting automatic approval wol

care—which the TAC alleges would rendertidieations false and violate the FCA.
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3.  Materiality®

For Relators to establish a false ceréifion claim, the certification must be

material to the payment made by the governmeanhdow 461 F.3d at 1171, and mus
be a prerequisite to obtamny the government benefliopper, 91 F.3d at 1266. Moving
Defendants argue that the TAC inadequatelycdbes what the alleged bills were fo
when and how they were sulited, and what informationhey purportdly alleged.

(Mot. at 17-18.) Moving Defendants also clathat Relators fail to allege what fals
statements were contained in the bills, anerdfore fail to adequately allege that th

certifications were material to the paymentwdney to Moving Defedants. (Mot. at 19-

23.) In doing so, they argue du bills cannot be materiabr cannot be inferred as

material from the allegations in the TAC.

The Supreme Court recently concludetthdespite its fact-intensive nature

materiality is an issue upon whiclowts may base aRCA dismissal.See Universal
Health Servs., Inc. ex rel. Escobar v. United Stat8§, S. Ct. 19891993 (2016). The
Supreme Court further stated that the standlargbleading materidy is “rigorous” and

that FCA plaintiffs must “plad their claims with plausility and particularity under
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 8 and Yly) for instance, pleading facts to suppa
allegations of materiality.See id.TheEscobarCourt rejected a theof materiality that

any statutory, regulatory, or contractual vima is material just because it can result

* Moving Defendants argue in a footnotatthiRelators mischaracterize the thif

element of an FCA claim—scienter—but dot address the requirement further, other

than to say that their qualifyy statements of psonal knowledge in certifications rulg
out scienter. (Mot. aB3 n.31.) Although th&CA’s scienter requirement is “rigorous,
Relators’ allegations satisfy it here. TheA@self provides that “no proof of specifig

intent to defraud” is required to satisfythe scienter requirement. 31 U.S.C.

§ 3729(b)(1)(B) See, e.g., Castillo-Villagra v. IN§72 F.2d 1017, 1026 (9th Cir. 1992
In short, “[s]o long as the statement in qua@sis knowingly false when made, it mattef
not whether it is a certificain, assertion, statement, ggcret handshake; False Clain
liability can attach.”Hendow 461 F.3d at 1172. Relators’ claims regarding fa
certifications are rife with altgations of reckless disregard tasthe truth or falsity of
compliance requirements and deliberate ignoeaio those attestations. Further, Movir
Defendants cannot escape liability deliberately failing, tor_lvesthéate any claims. Nor
can they escape liability for not applyingastlard criteria or by failing to review
V\{hataso%ver. Such conduct cannot serve ézlpde Relators from satisfying the scient
standard.
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the government’s decisiarot to pay a claimSee Escobarl36 S. Ct. at 2004. The Court
gave examples as to how BCA plaintiff might adequatelyplead a term’s materiality,
such as alleging that the government consikteefuses to pay claims that violate the
allegedly material ternSee id.at 16. Relators contend that materiality unlscobaris

case-specific and fact intensive, and tha TAC alleges that any reasonable person

==

would assume that the MCO contractors’ cbamnze with their obligation to protect and
properly expend state and federalds is material. (Resp. at 20-21.)

Initially, the Court notes thahe purpose of managed casenot simply to shift
risk and cost, as Movindefendants suggest. While MCOs certainly have brgad
discretion on how to accompligboth, Relators are correct iheir assertion that the
purpose of managed care is to recommendciliceordinate, and orgee the furnishing
of services to a program’enrollees from its network oparticipating healthcare
providers. (Resp. at 5 (aig 80 Fed. Reg. 104 (Jurde 2015).) Further, utilization
management, including prior authorizatiois, a material federal regulation, state
regulation, and contractual ohditjon of the contractor (Resat 6), and Health Choice’s
contract requires its subcoatted providers to follow writtepolicies and procedures foy
processing requests for initial and continuiagthorizations of services. (Resp. at |6
(citing 42 C.F.R. 8§ 43810(b)(1)).) Relators have allegétat Health Choice agreed to
comply with those contractual requirementgameing processing of requests for initial
and continuing services, fadleto comply with such reguements, made payments tp
providers, and reported those encountass properly paid knowing they were not
incompliance with the material obligation€TAC 11 49-50, 54-63, 65-66, 71.) As @
whole, these sufficiently plead materiality.

A legal or contractual viakion alone is not enougRafasse 637 F.3d at 1057.
But Relators cite contractual language andregfees in that contract to suggest that the
government would not have paid Health @eoihe capitation rates if Health Choice had
provided truthful encounter data or if it daw of Health Choice’s reckless disregard |n

ensuring that provided care was medical@cessary as requiréy various contractual

- 27 -
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and regulatory provisionsE(g. TAC {1 49, 63, 6566, 145.) The TAC's citation to
similar, redundant, or identical provisions reqg each substantisgets claim that these
processes are fundamental Medicare and Medicaid opdien and material to any
governmental decision to pay claims.

The TAC alleges that AHCCCS requirgdat all funds be both medically

necessary and cost effective and citesgecific provisions regarding the same. (TA

1959, 63, 91, 174.) The TAC also alleghs guidelines, policies, and manuals are

incorporated into Health Choice’s comdta(TAC 11 49-50,63, 65, 71.) The TAC
specifically avers that the Quality Mage@ment/Utilization Mangement Requirements
are incorporated by refaree into the relevant caact and require utilization
management, the determination of medical netygssid, at least, prior authorization fo
non-emergency or scheduled hospital admorssi (TAC 65 (citing A.A.C. R9-22-522).
The TAC also alleges that suaitorporated guidelines require credentialing of netwd
providers and standard applicatiof written practice guidelinesE(g, TAC 1 69.) All of

these allegations and citations give ris¢h®e inference that AHCCS'’s payments were

C

=

rk

contingent on compliance witthe terms and conditions of that contract, including the

incorporated clauses.E(Q, T 59 (citing 42 C.F.R. 8 38.242(b)(1); 42 C.F.R.
8§ 455.1(a)(2)).) Taken together, the TAC adeglyaalleges that Health Choice falsel

certified compliance with all relevantostractual and regulaty principles, both

explicitly present and incorpost into the contract. Relatoatlege this compliance was

material to IASIS’s ability to receive paymem the project and gods the essence of
the bargain of the governm&nagreement. Indeed, tladleged obligations are thsne

gua nonof government payment. These allegations meeE#w®barstandard that such
noncompliance would have atoeal tendency to influence dre capable of influencing

the payment or receiptf money or propertyEscobar 136 S. Ct. at 1996.

Moving Defendants make much of tdestinguishing factors between Relator$

allegations and those Winited States v. Scienégplications Int’l Corp, 262 F.3d 1257,
1271 (D.C. Cir. 2010). (Reply at 15 (testiny regarding whether the government wou

-28 -
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have signed the contract had it known of thelation, certificatons in the contract

renewal process that defendants were mmd@nce, and the explicright to terminate

the contract if certain provisions wereohdted).) However, many of these factors ;Te
0

either alleged by Relators here or are singrlgmature given the posture of this acti
This claim is sufficiently pled.

C. Conspiracy

Count IIl of the TAC asserts a conspiraty violate the False Claims Act in
violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3B(a)(1)(C). This provision créss liability for any person
who “conspires to commit a violation” of the FCA.

1. Essential Elements of Conspiracy

Moving Defendants argue that Relatorydnaot pled facts showing the existeng

of an unlawful agreement between Defendamtsan overt act in furtherance of tha
agreement. (Mot. at 33.) Both the TACdaResponse provide vieanswers to Moving
Defendants’ charge. While thexistence of a conspiracy & question of fact, Moving
Defendants are correct that Relators nuistid sufficient facts. (Reply at 16 (citing
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 679).)

First, to the extent Rela® conspiracy claims are baken a conspiracy to violatg
the FCA via AKS-violations, those claims fakcause the Court found no properly plg
AKS violations. Second, in regards to thewsuing FCA violations, Relators’ allegations

are almost solely pointed &toving Defendants as certifying the false claims allege

submitted. While Relators allege or impllgat providing clinics benefitted from the

scheme due to lack of oversight in theubmissions or simplyncreased approval of
care, they do not provide factispport that the providers ageto conspire with Health
Choice, or were even aware of the allegdteste. There are no factual allegations in t
TAC regarding a provider’'s pacipation in the submissioof claims to be paid by
AHCCCS whatsoever—otherah to Moving Defendants—hich does not trigger a FCA

violation. For these reasonset@ourt must dismiss Count IlI.
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2. Rule 9(b) Particularity

Moving Defendants also argue that the Aails to discern between individua|

Defendants and does not meet R8({b)’s particularity standart(Mot. at 33-34.) For
this independent reason, the Court agrdes Relators fail to adequately state
conspiracy claim. As discussed, particubmfendants’ agreemenha role in the alleged
scheme are not identified. Relators’ attémp identify these key factors in thei
Response is also insufficierfturther, for much of the TAdf is impossible to discern
each alleged participant’s activit€alisesj 2015 WL 196863, at *13 (dismissing FCA
conspiracy claim for failuréo plead “which Defendants conspired with which or a
facts regarding an agreementavert act”). Relators not opnlfail to plead who at each
Defendant agreed with whom taolate the FCA, or howhut what acts were done by
each Defendant in furtherem of such agreement(s).

As Moving Defendants poimut, even if the Court could consider it, Relator
Response fails to clarify this and does nefier to conduct by individually-identified

providers. (Reply at 18.) fil the context of a fraud suiivolving multiple defendants, a

plaintiff must, at a minimum kehtify the role of each defeadt in the alleged fraudulent

scheme.” Corinthian Colls, 655 F.3d at 997-98. While Relators may avoid tf
requirement by alleging identical conduct by multiple defendants in a singular sch
that is not the case here. Relators have fdiles] to adequately allege any of the requirg
elements of a conspiracy.

While the Response ostdblg provides the who, wdit, when, where, why, anc
how—though many of those allegations amsoalague—it does not tether each cateqc
to the next. $ee Resp. at 28-30.) In providing éhwho, Relators largely list all
Defendants. (Resp. at 28.) In providinge tivhat, Relators list and cite the TAC’

allegations as a whole. (Resp. at 29-30.afes do not, however, tie any Defendant

~°In a separate Motion to Dismiss (Dd0), Defendant Genesis OB/GYN, P.¢
join in Moving Defendants’ _ _ _ _
dismissal regarding Rule _9(bE) particulayityo the Court considered their argumer
together with those of Moving Defendants.
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any specified allegation. Nor do they stathat specific catuct occurred where of

when—only that the conduct occurred inizena offices and other locations in the

Phoenix area and “throughout Arizona, speciljcklagstaff and [Tusan] . . . .” (Resp.
at 28-30.) At bottom, Relators fail to prde the most basic requirements under 9(b) (
Defendant A, violate®, on C, at D, withe, by F and G), furthewvarranting dismissal of
Count 11l
3. Intra-Corporate Conspiracy Doctrine

Moving Defendants separately move dsmiss Count lll—at least against it
affiliates—arguing that, as a matter of lawe\tttannot conspire together because eac
a fully owned subsidiary of IASIS. (Mot. at 34-3ee alsdocs. 36, 38-43 (identifying

IASIS Healthcare LLC as theorporate parent of Mountain Vista Medical Center L

St. Luke’s Behavioral Hospital LP, St.uke’'s Medical Center, Health Choice

Management Company Incorporated, Health Choice of Arizona Incorporated, He
Technologies LLC, ashPhysician Grop of Arizona).)

Moving Defendants’ argument relies ore timtra-corporate conspiracy doctrine
an antitrust principle—which “provides thats a matter of law, a corporation cann

conspire with its own employees or agentsdefer v. Fluor Daniel, In¢.92 F. Supp. 2d

1055, 1057 (C.D. Cal. 2000%:enerally, the doctrine recoges that corporate entities

must act through theagents and employees and thas ttollaborative decision-making
process is not conspiratorial when the agemd employees areteg within the scope
of their duties. The reasoning behind this daetis that “it is not possible for a singls
legal entity consisting of the carpation and its agents to conspwith itself, just as it is
not possible for an individual pens to conspire with himself.Microsoft Corp. v. Big
Boy Distribution LLC 589 F. Supp. 2d 1308, 1322 (S.Ba. 2008). Courts have use
this principle to bar conspiracy claims wlehe purported conspirators were a pare
corporation and a whig-owned subsidiarySee, e.g., United Statex rel. Chilcott v.
KBR, Inc, No. 09-CV-4018, 203 WL 5781660, at *10-11C.D. Ill. Oct. 25, 2013)

(collecting cases); United States v. Medco Health Systems, ,InNo. 12—
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522(NLH)(AMD), 2014 WL 4798637, at "1 (D.N.J. Sept. 26, 2014) (“The intrat

corporate conspiracy doctrine, raised by ddémts, contemplates the ramifications
this type of parent/subsidiamglationship. The doctrine provides that a wholly own
subsidiary is deemed incapable of conspinvith its parent company, and it has lon
been applied to conspiracy claims generallyUJitited States ex rel. Peretz v. Humar
Inc., No. 2:08-CV-1799-HRH, 21 WL 11053884, at *10 (DAriz. Apr. 8, 2011);
United States v. Summit Healthcare Ass’n,,IlNn. CV-10-8003-ET-FJM, 2011 WL
814898, at *4 (D. Ariz. Mar. 3, 2011).

Relators contend that this doctrine doed definitively barthe type of alleged
conspiracy, particularly outside the Shermartitfust Act. (Resp. a34-36.) Relators rely
on state court decisions in other jurisdictidostheir argument thahat the theory does
not extend beyond antitrust actions. (Mot. at 35 (cithiged Capital Corp. v. GC-Sun
Holdings, L.P, 910 A.2d 1@0 (Del. 2007);MGW Inc. v. Fredricks Dev. CorpNo.
G006654, 1990 WL 272149, at *4 (Cal. Ct. App. Apr. 30, 198ét. granted, judgment
vacated sub nom. Pac.dhting Corp. v. MGW, In¢c.499 U.S. 915SEECO, Inc. v.
Hales 22 S.W.3d 157, 172 (Ark. 2000%rizzle v. Tex. Commerce Bank, N.A8
S.W.3d 265, 284 (Tex. Ct. App. 2001)).)

The Supreme Court has stated thattiteust law’s intracorporate conspirac)
doctrine . . . tura on specific antitrust objectiveCedric Kushner Promotions, Ltd. v|
King, 533 U.S. 158, 166 (2001hlowever, courts have not mstrued the intra-corporate
conspiracy doctrine as narrovdg Relators contend, and a raenof courts have applied
it in FCA casesSee, e.g.Chilcott, 2013 WL 5781660 at *4 (“#h Court holds that the
intracorporate conspiracy doctrine bars FCdénspiracy claims where all the allege
conspirators are either employees or olshowned subsidiaes of the same
corporation”); Ruhe 929 F. Supp. 2d at 1038 (C.D.IC2012) (“Contrary to Relators’

assertion, this doctrine applies to congpjralaims outside of antitrust, where it wg

originally developed, and has in fact bespplied by several federal courts to claims

under the FCA.”);United States ex rel. Fago v. M & T Mortg. Corp18 F. Supp. 2d
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108, 117-18 (D.D.C.@07) (applying the doatre in the FCA contaXx Relators contend
that Moving Defendants conspired with eaxther to violate the FCA when those IASIS
affiliated entities submitted claims to Healthoice knowing tht they would not
encounter any prior authorization or admirasve review. Thus, the alleged conspiraq
is largely between IASIS (the ultimate pareompany of all otireMoving Defendants)
and its subsidiary entities. These allegationsri@sconduct that lies at the core of wh;
IS non-conspiratorial under the intracorporataspiracy doctrine. Rators point to no
controlling authority rejecting application of the doctrinetive FCA context. For this
independent reason, Relators’ conspiratgims against the Moving Defendants a
dismissed with prejudice.

D. Health Choice Management Co. and Defendant Providers

Moving Defendants argue that the TASils to state a claim against HCMC

because Relators fail to allege any actionthy entity at all. (Matat 35.) The Court
agrees. The allegations regarding HCMC in the TAC are conclusory and fail undef

Rules 8(a) and 9(b) as they do not allegyy HCMC conduct relant to any of the

Relators’ claims. Relators failed to rebut this argument inr tReisponse and have

therefore waived any further opposition.Mat 35; Reply at 3); LRCiv 7.2(iurrie,
2008 WL 2512841, ar. Claims against HCMC amismissed with prejudice.

The same equally applies to the failtweserve Health Choé Northern Arizona
LLC and SCMC (Reply at 3), and the Defendardviders in generaln addition to the
dismissal of claims againgntities as already discusseahd for the reasons state
throughout this Order, Relators’ claims aegéd can only be maeined against Health
Choice and IASIS. While Moving Defendantgae that claims against IASIS have n
been properly pled, Relators have allegeat tASIS controlled, bt legally and in the
ordinary course of business, the activitiesHafalth Choice and actively participated i
wrongful conduct in the TAC.H.g. TAC  159.) This is suffi@nt. Claims against all

other parties are not, and are therefore dismissed.
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E. Possible Amendment
Moving Defendants seek dismissal of thAC with prejudice. (Mot. at 37-38.)

Relators seek leave to amd any dismissed claims €8p. at 37), which Moving

Defendants argue would be futile and beeaasmendment would waste the Court’s time

and burden Moving Oendants with substantial litigation costs (Mot. at 37-38).
Federal Rule of Civil Prmedure 15 provides that leaveamend should be freely
granted “when justice so requires.” Fed. Rv.(R. 15(a)(2). Hence, “[tlhe standard fg
granting leave to amend is generouSdrinthian Colls, 655 F.3d at 995ee also Lopez
v. Smith 203 F.3d 1122, 1127-30t(P Cir. 2000). “The power tgrant leave to amend
however, is entrusted to the discretion tbe district court,which determines the
propriety of a motion to amend by ascertainihg presence of any ébur factors: bad
faith, undue delay, prejudice toetlopposing party, and/or futilitySerra v. Lappin600
F.3d 1191, 1200 (9th Cir. 2010) (intefnguotation omitted)).In assessing fultility,
“denial of a motion to amend @oper if it is clear that thcomplaint would not be save(
by any amendmentHildes v. Arthur Andersen LLF34 F.3d 854, 859 (9th Cir. 2013).
The shortcomings in Ret&rs’ AKS-based claims, conspiracy claims, and thd
against provider Defendants are fundameriaien if some flaws could be cured b
amending to prode additional particularity, thesclaims could not be saved b
amendment as those claims, ewath amendment, could not fqusibly give rise to an
entitlement to relief'under the FCAIlgbal, 556 U.S. at 679. Fdhe reasons discussed
Relators have failed to state a claim f6CA liability based onAKS violations, any
claims against provider Defendants, or atyionable conspiracynder the FCA. That
Relators have had ample time, opportungtyd that these iterative pleadings have n(
been pending for 17 omths, though nadispositive, also militateagainst further leave to
amend. Amendment as to these theorieB@A liability would thusbe futile and those
claims are dismissed with prejudi@ee Salameh v. Tarsadia Hoté26 F.3d 1124, 1133
(9th Cir. 2013) (“dismissal whout leave to amend is proper if it is clear that t

complaint could not be saved by amendtije(internal quotation marks and citation
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omitted). Finally, whileRelators note thd&scobarwas published during the pendency of
the TAC (Resp. at 37), therefore militatingfavor of leave to amend, Relators’ impliefd
certification theories based on ttis@mework are not teg dismissed.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED granting in part and dging in part Moving
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss PlaintiffS'hird Amended Complaint (Doc. 78), a

\*2J

detailed in this Order. Counts I, Ill, and are dismissed witlprejudice. Count II
remains pending as to Defendants IASIS amrdlth Choice; as tall other Defendants,
Count Il is dismissa with prejudice.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED granting Genesis OB/GYN, P.C.’s Motion tp
Dismiss. (Doc. 90.)

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants IASIS d@nHealth Choice shall
file an Answer to Count Il ofhe Third Amended Complaint (Doc. 67) by November 21,
2016.

Dated this 8 day of November, 2016.

n J. Tuchi
District Jge
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